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Introduction

Rowe Mesa is a 72,000 acre elevated landscape of rolling pastures interspersed with ponderosa, piñon and juniper forest stands, located in northern New Mexico.  The Mesa has a centuries-long history of resource use by local villages that has shaped the forests and grasslands over time into a human landscape.  The Pecos River Valley lies to the Northeast, and the Galisteo Basin to the Southwest, both settings of rich indigenous histories for many centuries.

A handful of villages lie in a halo around the Mesa: to the northeast, Pecos, Glorieta, Rowe, and San Jose and other small villages, and to the southwest, Lamy, Eldorado and White Lakes.  These local communities still use the resources of the Mesa intensively, hunting game, gathering fuelwood, and grazing livestock on its gentle landscape of forests and pastures.

The Mesa lies in the watersheds of the Pecos River and Galisteo Creek, and ranges in elevation from 6,000 to 7,200 feet.  There are no perennial sources of water, although there are ephemeral springs and seasonal water courses (Bionomics 2005).  Average annual precipitation is 15.7 inches, mostly falling as rain during summer monsoons, and soils are primarily derived from sandstone.  The predominant large wildlife are deer, turkey and an occasional mountain lion, but no threatened or endangered species have been documented on the Mesa.  

The Mesa encompasses both private and public lands.  About is in public ownership, and half in private ownership (Bionomics 2005).  There are about 2,500 acres of private in-holdings within the National Forest (Bionomics 2005).  Until the late 1940s, a number of small family ranches on the Mesa treated much of the landscape as a commons, and few fences were to be found (Bionomics 2005).  In the 1950s, demographic changes and a severe drought drove most of these ranches out of business (Bionomics 2005).  Currently, one large landowner, the San Cristobal Ranch, holds about 131 square miles on the southeast corner of the Mesa (Bionomics 2005), and there remains a scattering of small private ranches.

While historical documentation of the Mesa is scant, there is a sense of the way successive waves of settlement have altered and adapted the landscape to their needs over past centuries.
Indigenous Peoples       

Indigenous people knew and used the area for thousands of years.  Very early presence of indigenous people of the Pre-ceramic period (15,000 BC to 600 AD) in the Upper Pecos Valley is documented by artifacts that include fluted projectiles points (Cordell 1998).  Cultural inventories have found abundant early prehistoric artifacts on Rowe Mesa itself, primarily lithic scatters (Oakes and Zamora 2005).

The first pithouses in the Upper Pecos Valley have been dated using tree-ring chronologies to the early 800s AD (Cordell 1998).  Around 900 A.D. the indigenous population of the Rio Grande Valley began to grow dramatically, particularly after the drought coincided with the abandonment of the Four Corners region from around 1300 onward (deBuys 1985).  People continued to move eastward from the Rio Grande Valley toward the plains, and Pecos Pueblo was established in the fertile Upper Pecos River Valley.  A second pueblo, Rowe Pueblo, established about 4 miles to the south-east, at the very base of the Mesa, became a relatively large fourteenth-century community (Cordell 1998).  These pueblos thrived on a major trading location along the trail from the Rio Grande Valley to the bison hunting ground of the plains.  At one time Pecos Pueblo was occupied by up to 2,000 people (deBuys 1985).

The area was probably marginal for maize agriculture (Cordell 1998), and wild foods probably played a critical role in pueblo economy (Cordell 1998).  The high forested mesa above probably served as a resource for the pueblo.  The Mesa was the nearest source of abundant trees for firewood and construction, and may also have been a hunting ground for game.  Game animals in the area during this period, documented from recovered bones, included bighorn sheep, elk, mule deer, pronghorn antelope, turkey and rabbits (Cordell 1998).  Cordell (1998) notes, however, that the Valley was in all likelihood more wooded than at present, and hunting and wood-gathering on the Mesa may not have been intensive (Cordell 1998). 

Domestic livestock, primarily sheep, had been introduced to Pecos Pueblo as early as the 1620s (Kessell 1987).  These animals were probably grazed in the close vicinity of the Pueblo, in the valley north of the Mesa.  Another landscape feature was the route of the old Galisteo Trail, an historic and possibly prehistoric route across the Mesa (Laboratory of Anthropology 2002).  Archaeological sites adjacent to the route and spanning from the Archaic Period to the present suggest that it may have been a trade route from early times (Laboratory of Anthropology 2002)1 and possible an early livestock trail.

After Spanish occupation, Indian populations steadily declined in the Pecos River Valley.  The same strategic location between the Rio Grande and the eastern plains became a liability for the pueblos as the Spanish moved in.  Tribute fines were inflicted by the Spanish on Pecos Pueblo, including hides, tanned skins, and piñon nuts, all found on nearby Rowe Mesa (deBuys 1985).  Indigenous populations in the Galisteo declined abruptly after the Pueblo Revolt in the late 17th century.  In 1838, the last 17 Pecos Pueblo Indians struggled away from the ruined pueblo for good (deBuys 1985). 

Livestock Grazing


Hispanic settlement
Grazing of domestic livestock has a history of over 200 years on Rowe Mesa and the adjacent Upper Pecos River Valley.  As the indigenous influence on the forests adjacent to the pueblo waned, the influence of Hispanic settlers rose.  Hispanic settlement of the Pecos Valley directly to the north of Rowe Mesa began soon after the Endrada in 1540.   On Rowe Mesa itself, grazing by domestic livestock began in early 1800s; this long-term grazing pressure altered the vegetation, reducing the grass cover, which remains sparse to this day.  

The influx of Spanish into the valley affected both the Pueblo and the surrounding forests.  The Santa Fe Trail followed a natural conduit through the Upper Pecos Valley, just north of the rim of the Mesa, between Independence, Missouri and Santa Fe.  The same route was later followed by the railroad, completed in 1879.  After New Mexico was annexed by the U.S. in 1848, settlement of the Pecos Canyon increased significantly, especially in the 1870s following the Civil War.  Anglos began joining Hispanos in settling the upper Pecos watershed during the 19th century.  But in the small villages of the Pecos Valley, primarily Hispanic farmers grazed small herds of dairy and beef cows, sheep, goats and horses in a subsistence economy. 

The arrival of the railroad to the area increased the number of settlers in the Valley and changed the face of livestock raising, shifting it from subsistence grazing to commercial enterprise.  In the 1880s, the New Mexico territory, sheep population jumped from 619,000 to nearly 5 million, and cattle from 137,000 to 1.25 million (deBuys 1985).  By the 1850s, the State had the largest number of sheep in the West (Carlson 1956).  The increase in sheep, in particular, would have had a significant impact on the condition of grasslands and forest in the Pecos high country and the pastures of Rowe Mesa, directly south of the village of Pecos.  In the early 1900s, the railroad put in a second set of tracks, putting additional pressure on surrounding forested areas for wooden ties (deBuys 1985). Cattle grazing increased in the area throughout the early twentieth century, while sheep grazing diminished (McClendon 2004).

Much of Rowe Mesa was included in the federal Pecos River Forest Reserve when it was established in 1892. One objective of government control of the land was the protection of forests and grasslands, including some relief from severe overgrazing.  While grazing was banned in the Reserve, local residents in many cases ignored the prohibition.  In 1897, however, the General Land Office, however, the administrator of the Reserves allowed grazing in forests, with the exception of sheep, and issued grazing permits (Rowley 1985).  In 1905, the Pecos Forest Reserve became incorporated into the Pecos National Forest, which was combined, in 1915, with the Jemez National Forest to become the Santa Fe National Forest (Baker et al. 1988).
During the Spanish and Colonial periods, and down to the present time, Hispanic settlers practiced mixed farming, which often included a few livestock to provision the family, or to provide a small amount of cash.  In northern New Mexico, there has historically been a tension between federal governance and the local residents who had used resources from the forests for many decades.  This has led to conflicts over the issues of numbers of livestock allowed to graze and the consolidation of permits into fewer hands over time (deBuys 1985).  Hispanic residents of local communities may still feel that the grasslands of the Mesa, once common grazing lands, have been part of their heritage for centuries.  For example, after conquest of New Mexico by the United States, over 80% of Spanish and Mexican land grants were lost to their original owners, despite guarantees of property rights in the Treaty of Guadalupe Hildago (Harper et al. 1943).  

Early Hispanic homesteads on the Mesa were established in the early 20th century with both grazing and timbering in mind.  The Madrid family homestead is particularly well-documented (Laboratory of Anthropology 1998).  The ruins of a stone house still exist, together with a corral.  The home was constructed of ax-cut ponderosa pine and latillas.  Nearby, a trail, the Madrid/Lopez Trail, built at the beginning of the 20th century, led from the bottom of the mesa up the escarpment to move livestock from the Pecos River valley up to the Mesa (Laboratory of Anthropology 2000).  In 1911, another settler, Jose Rivera, established a 3-room log homestead for his family, planning to graze the pastures with 50 cattle and 800 sheep.  The original claim describes the local forest as “scattered piñon” (Laboratory of Anthropology 2010). A handful of other homesteads were strewn across the mesa, including the Gonzales Cabin, the Seco Cabin, the Griego Cabin and various associated water tanks and corrals for livestock.


Forest Service Grassland Management

After World War II, the Forest Service management of Rowe Mesa pastures intensified in an effort to improve the range condition, increase water infiltration, control erosion, and provide better forage for cattle.  Livestock numbers were dramatically reduced after World War II, and the Mesa was used primarily for seasonal grazing in summertime during the second half of the 20th century.  Over this period of time, there were three main grazing allotments, the Barbero Allotment, the Valle Grande Allotment, and the Springs Allotment--also know as the Padre Springs or Ortiz Springs Allotment (Bionomics 2005). 

The Barbero Allotment, on the northeast rim of the mesa, includes one major drainage, Barbero Canyon, which drains into Canyon Blanco, and then into the Pecos River drainage, but no permanent natural water exists on the allotment.  The ephemeral Padre Springs Creek flows into the San Christobal Arroyo, off the Mesa, and into the Galisteo River.  The ephemeral waters from portions of the Valle Grande Allotment drain into Galisteo system, and then into the Pecos River system.

Mesa pastures are a mix of native grasses, predominantly blue gramma and mountain muhley, with lesser abundances of western wheatgrass, sand dropseed, and squirreltail.  Starting in the 1940 and continuing through the 1950s, the Forest Service ran experimental trials and seeding of pastures with spike muhley, Russian wild rye, western wheatgrass, chamisa, Siberian wheatgrass and particularly crested wheatgrass, but these efforts were largely failures.  By 1955, the Forest Service documents documented very low levels of these species (Forest Service 1967).  The drought years of the 1950s were implicated in this failure (Forest Service 1967).

The Forest Service intermittently took other measures to improve forage.  By the 1960s, they had instituted herbicide spraying of species considered undesirable for forage, such as snakeweed and dwarf rabbitbrush, in order to promote cool season grasses (Forest Service 1979).  At times, prairie dogs were “controlled”, and some pastures were closed to grazing for a year or more during unfavorable climate conditions (Forest Service 1967).  During the 1980s, the Savory cattle rotation method was put into use to a minor extent and for some unstated period of time, in particular by Ivan Madrid, postmaster at the village of Rowe, and permittee on the Valle Grande Allotment (Forest Service 1984).

Other efforts to improve conditions for livestock grazing by the Forest Service included the laying of a drinking water distribution system and fencing of pastures by the 1960s (Forest Service 1979).  Permittees were expected to maintain water distribution systems and fences, and to maintain pasture conditions.

Tree Crushing

One result of a reduction in grazing by livestock after World War II was an invasion of small trees due to the release of tree seedlings from grazing pressure. For example, on the Barbero allotment, while there were about 400 sheep grazing the allotment throughout the first half of the 20th century, by the 1950s, numbers were reduced to about a third of that (Forest Service 1956).  The establishment of many young trees encroaching into pastures and thickening forest density in turn reduced available grass for grazing.

As part of the forage creation efforts instituted by the Forest Service in the late 1960s and early 1970s, tree crushing was implemented to remove piñon pine and juniper trees, using bulldozers linked together with huge chains to push trees over (Biomomics 2005).  Grazing was usually deferred for two years after crushing to allow grass recovery (Forest Service 1976).  About 13,000 acres on the Mesa were ultimately stripped of trees to create grasslands (Raish 1996).

Stated goals of tree crushing were the improvement of forage for livestock and wildlife, and the provision of fuelwood as a side benefit (Forest Service 1976).  The Forest Service predicted that untreated woodlands provided 300 pounds per acre of forage, whereas pastures after tree crushing would provide an average of 1,200 pounds of forage (Forest Service 1976).

One benefit projected in Forest Service documents was the provision of fuelwood to nearby communities, at a rate of about 4 to 5 cords of fuelwood per acre crushed (Forest Service 1976).  Over the long term, however, fuelwood availability was reduced, apparently creating hardships for local villagers.  The Forest Service (1976) did recognize that the “natural beauty” of the sites would be affected by tree crushing, but only temporarily.  A final benefit was expected to be increased revenues from grazing fees (Forest Service 1976).

Raish (1996) reports that this venture had only limited success in creating grasslands with significant amounts of forage.  After the early 1970s, crushing was no longer employed as a means of forest treatment.
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Figures 1 and 2.  Photos from tree crushing at Padre Springs Project, Rowe Mesa, May 28, 1971 (Forest Service, Pecos Ranger Station files).

Logging
The trees of Rowe Mesa have provided timber for a variety of uses for at least several centuries.  Doubtless, the Mesa provided firewood and building timber, poles and latillas for nearby communities established in the 19th and early 20th centuries (Laboratory of Anthropology 2010).  The town of Rowe was first established in 1876 at the base of the Mesa, with stock raising and timbering as primary activities.  

By the early part of the 20th century, homesteaders were settling on the Mesa, using axes to cut nearby timber for building homes, corrals, and fences.  But in addition, the language of homesteading claims referred to small-scale commercial uses.  The Jose Rivera claim filed in 1911 describes the land as having about 25,000 board feet of pine, 300 cedar and juniper posts, and 300 cords of fire wood (Laboratory of Anthropology 2010).  Other homesteads no doubt cut timber for building, for sale, and to clear pastures, but the extent of the impact on the forest is not documented.

There is anecdotal information on commercial timbering in the 19th and early 20th centuries.  Vernon Bailey, in his notebooks (pers. comm. W. deBuys), mentions slide scars down the north face of the Mesa, created when timber for railroad ties were shunted off the Mesa.  Near the so-called Sawmill Tank, there are remains of old milling machinery and large sawdust piles, remnants of early sawmill activity.

Logging became somewhat more systematic for several decades in the mid-20th century (Bionomics 2005). The dirt roads created by this effort are presently often unstable, lack drainage features, and are slowly eroding into gullies where the road lays on slopes (Bionomics 2005).  One swath of cleared forest is permanent, an energy transmission line that runs across the Mesa.2
Hunting
Hunting was probably an influence on wildlife populations for many centuries, perhaps starting with indigenous hunting and continued by Hispanic settlers as part of a subsistence economy.  Three species were considered game species: mule deer, turkey, and mourning dove (Forest Service 1957).  But hunting success has been consistently reported as “limited” due to the low animal abundances (e.g., Forest Service 1984). and numerous Forest Service analyses through the second half of the 20th century report small but stable populations of these animals. 

Wildlife abundance is and has been historically low on Rowe Mesa because there is very little natural permanent water.  Forest Service efforts to provide drinking water for livestock in the 20th century has also increased available water for wildlife.  For example, as early as 1954, a 4,500 gallon water catchment was installed for use by livestock, also providing water for wildlife populations (Forest Service 1967).

A small elk herd is also found on Rowe Mesa, which has grown in recent years (Bionomics 2005).  The abundant presence of Gambel oak on the Mesa contribute to the stability of both deer, elk and turkey populations.  At one time in the 1960s, the NM Game and Fish Department considered reintroducing antelope to the Mesa, but did not implement the proposal (Forest Service 1964).  At the present time, deer, elk and turkey are hunted both by local villagers and hunters from outside the region (Bionomics 2005).
Recreation

The Forest Service multiple-use mandate also encompasses recreation, in theory including camping, mountain biking, horseback riding, hiking, and picnicking (Bionomics 2005), but in reality, these pursuits are not as common as more traditional uses, and impact on the landscape of vegetation of the Mesa by recreational uses is low.

Rowe Mesa is still used more for customary practices that have continued unbroken from historic use.  These resources continue to play a crucial role in the economies of local residents engaged in a subsistence economy.  Perhaps one of the most popular pursuits on the Mesa, with both a subsistence and recreational character for neighboring village families, is the gathering of piñon seeds.   The Mesa remains an important source of firewood, pasture, tree transplants, piñon seeds, and game for local villagers.  

Restoration

The Forest Service has a history of prescribed burning on the Mesa to renew grasses, and encourage new growth.  Since 1990, prescribed burns to improve grass cover have been conducted by the Forest Service in the following pastures:  Two Pines (Valle Grande Allotment), northwest and southwest Barbero (Barbero Allotment), Madrid (Barbero/ Valle Grande Allotment), and Ortiz (Barbero/Valle Grande) (pers. comm. M. Lujan 2011).
More recently, a series of forest restoration projects using funds from the Collaborative Forest Restoration Program (CFRP) have been implemented.  In 2001, the Four Corners Institute thinned understory piñon pine and juniper trees from beneath a ponderosa overstory on a 300-acre area in the Ortiz Pasture, and the treated area subsequently burned in a prescribed fire by the Forest Service.  In 2004, the Conservation Fund was awarded a CFRP grant to conduct a similar project (later passed on to the Quivira Coalition), in an area immediately to the north of the first restoration.  A similar restoration prescription was used to thin 530 forested acres and clear 200 acres of young trees encroaching into meadows.  Currently, Sean Medrano is using funds from a third CFRP project to remove invading trees from pastures on the Barbero Allotment.  The goal of these restoration projects are 1) to return stand structure to within a more natural range of variability, 2) to improve wildlife habitat, and 3) to reduce the potential for crown fire.

In 1997, one of the Mesa ranches, together with its grazing permit on Forest Service land, was purchased by The Conservation Fund, and run as a “grass bank”, providing pastures for local ranchers to use as a relief pasture while they rested or restored their own grazing lands.  The Quivira Coalition owned the ranch for several years in the late 2000’s, and in 2010, the Grass Bank was sold to a private rancher, accompanied by the Forest Service grazing allotment assigned to the ranch.

The forests and grasslands of Rowe Mesa have been shaped over many centuries into a cultural landscape, where human uses of many kinds have been overlain on the natural mosaic of forests, woodlands and grasslands.  These alterations will no doubt continue into the future, within an envelope of shifting climate patterns, to create a place where culture and nature shape the morphology of landscape.
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Footnotes
1 The Trail played a well-documented role in the Battle of Glorieta Pass during the Civil War when Union troops used it to cross the mesa to make a sneak attack on Confederate supplies.  It is likely that this route now overlaps with portions of Country Road 63/FR 612, a present-day road.

2A transmission line was constructed across Rowe Mesa in 1954 to provide service from Santa Fe to Las Vegas, NM, creating a swath of about 100 feet in width cleared and maintained free of trees, with an associated patrol trail road (Laboratory of Anthropological  2004).

Acknowledgements

This report was supported by a Collaborative Forest Restoration Program grant to the University of Arizona, “Rowe Mesa Landscape-Scale Assessment: Planning for Fire-Focused Forest Restoration.”
PAGE  

